Filed 05-16-2024

Page 1 of 46

FILED 05-16-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2024AP000472

In the Interest of: S.G., a person under the age of 18. S.G.,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES AND WAUPACA COUNTY,

Respondents-Respondents.

Appeal from an Order Dismissing S.G.'s Petition for Protection or Services; the Honorable Troy L. Nielsen, Presiding, Entered in the Waupaca County Circuit Court

BRIEF OF PETITIONER-APPELLANT

MATTHEW W. GIESFELDT Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1091111

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the circuit court err by granting Waupaca County Corporation Counsel's request to be added as a party for the purposes of contesting Sara's petition for protection or services, brought pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 48.13(9), which permits children to petition for their own protection and services?

The circuit court granted Waupaca County Corporation Counsel's request to be added as a party to contest the petition. Then, because the court concluded that it could not accommodate a contested fact-finding hearing, it dismissed Sara's petition.

This Court should reverse.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Sara would welcome the opportunity for oral argument. The issue presented involves the interpretation of several statutes working together, including Wis. Stat. §§ 48.09 (representation of the interests of the public), 48.13(9) (a child's request for her own protection and services), 48.25(1) (who may file petitions), 48.255 (who is entitled to receive a copy of petitions filed under Chapter 48), 48.27 (who is

9

¹ Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.81(8), this brief refers to S.G. as "Sara," a pseudonym.

entitled to notice of hearings), 48.335 and 48.355 (disposition of children adjudged in need of protection or services), 48.43 (termination of parental rights court orders), as well as other related statutes and caselaw. The breadth of the applicable laws and the novel issue raised may justify oral argument to allow the Court and parties to fully identify and argue the issues.

Publication is not authorized, as this is a one-judge appeal of a Chapter 48 order. Wis. Stat. §§ 752.31(2)(e) and 809.23(4)(b).

INTRODUCTION

The circuit court erroneously concluded that it must grant Waupaca County Corporation Counsel's (hereinafter, "Corporation Counsel") request to intervene as a party to contest Sara's petition for protection and services. Generally, a government attorney, either the local district attorney or corporation counsel, files most CHIPS³ petitions and serves as the petitioner-party in the proceedings commenced therefrom. However, the district attorney

² In this brief, Sara uses the capitalized "Corporation Counsel" to specifically refer to the Waupaca County Corporation Counsel, the party allowed to intervene in the circuit court proceedings, whereas when she uses the uncapitalized "corporation counsel," she is referring to the office of corporation counsel, generally.

³ "CHIPS" is a term used to describe proceedings under Chapter 48 in which children are alleged and adjudged to be in need of protection or services.

Case 2024AP000472 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2024 Page 11 of 46

or corporation counsel has limited and specific statutory authority, and such authority does not include *carte blanche* to act as that attorney wishes in any and all situations, nor does it include party-status in each and every case. Where the district attorney or corporation counsel is not the petitioning party, there is no authority for that attorney to contest a petition, for the district attorney or corporation counsel is not entitled to notice, not entitled to a copy of the petition, and is not entitled to party status. Here, the circuit court erred when it allowed Corporation Counsel to intervene as a party to contest Sara's petition.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sara is a parentless 17-year-old child. She is the victim of physical abuse, sexual abuse, and torture. She lived in ten placements (five foster homes and five group homes) over a five-year period. In this case, she sought the government's assistance for services and protection. After the parental rights of her biological and adoptive parents had each been terminated, Sara was never adopted, rendering her a ward of the State, and the Department of Children and Families ("DCF") served as her guardian. But, DCF had no means to services or her placement past 18th birthday, set to occur months before graduated high school. Sara sought the support of the local child protection agency to provide her services (such as independent living skills training) and a place to live so that she could finish high school.

Corporation Counsel, however, sought to intervene in Sara's CHIPS action. The circuit court granted Corporation Counsel's request to be added as a party. The court then allowed Corporation Counsel to contest the allegations in the petition and demand a fact-finding hearing. Instead of scheduling that hearing, the circuit court dismissed Sara's petition outright, reasoning that it could not accommodate a contested fact-finding hearing before Sara's 18th birthday, thus leaving Sara without legal family or provision of placement, care, or services.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sara was born in Georgia in 2005. (14:1-2; App. 40-41). Her biological parents' parental rights were terminated, and she was sent to live with an aunt. (14:2; App. 41). However, that placement ended when her aunt failed a drug test. (14:2; App. 41). Then, in 2007, she moved to Wisconsin to live with her maternal grandmother. (14:3; App. 42). In her maternal grandmother's home, she witnessed domestic violence and was sexually assaulted by her step-grandfather. (14:3; App. 42). In 2010, the local child protection agency intervened and removed Sara from that home. (14:3; App. 42). Sara lived in three separate foster homes before she was adopted by the Grants⁴ in 2012. (14:3; App. 42).

⁴ Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.81(8), this brief refers to S.G.'s adoptive parents as the "Grants," a pseudonym.

Sara was removed from the Grants' home on October 14, 2018, for "extreme physical abuse[,]... torture that she experienced from her [adoptive] mother,... and ongoing emotional abuse and neglect." (14:2; App. 42). The Grants' parental rights to Sara were eventually terminated on April 22, 2021. (20:1).

Once Sara was removed from the Grants' home in 2018, she began a five-year period of instability, being placed in five group homes and five foster homes, as well as multiple psychiatric hospitalizations. (14:3-6; App. 42-45). During this period, Sara was provided services, placement, and case management from a case worker, either through a CHIPS case or, after April 2021, through the TP case. (14:2-5; 20:1-2; App. 41-44).

In October 2018, Sara was placed in foster care with a relative of the Grants. (14:6; App. 45). In March 2019, she was moved to a new foster home. (14:6; App. 45). After three months, she was moved to yet another foster home. (14:6; App. 45). Then, in March 2020, she was placed at the SHARE Academy, her first of several group home placements. (14:6; App. 45).

⁵ "TP case" refers to a proceeding brought to terminate parental rights, and in this instance, TP case is used to refer to the proceedings that resulted in termination of the Grants' parental rights and the subsequent placement and care provided to Sara pursuant to that TP case order thereafter.

Case 2024AP000472 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2024 Page 14 of 46

After the group home, and in August 2020, Sara moved to live with foster parents who expressed a adopt Sara when thewillingness toGrants' parental rights were terminated in April 2021. (14:3-6; App. 42-45). Sara wished to be adopted by these foster parents, as well. (14:3; App. 42). These foster parents were "able to provide a safe and stable home for [Sara] while meeting all of her physical, emotional, social, and mental needs." (14:3; App. 42). Despite the "good relationship" between Sara and her foster parents, she continued to experience panic attacks due to her trauma history. (14:3; App. 42).

In December 2021, these foster parents terminated Sara's placement. (14:3-4; App. 42-43). Upon termination of this placement, Sara was psychiatrically hospitalized and then moved to her second group home in two years. (14:4, 6; App. 43, 45). At this time, Sara reported to her caseworker that she "is very open to being adopted someday when she and a family would be ready." (14:4; App. 43).

Sara spent five months at the group home. (14:6; App. 45). There, she managed to earn As and Bs at her online school program. (14:4; App. 43). She also joined in extracurricular activities through her church. (14:4; App. 43). However, she "desire[d] to be in a family setting and [was] very open to being adopted[.]" (14:4; App. 43).

Despite this desire, Sara's next two placements were also group homes. (14:6; App. 45). During these placements, she "struggled...with her

Case 2024AP000472 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2024 Page 15 of 46

mental health, well-being, and self-worth." (14:5; 44). Sara's case manager met with her times weekly and "recruit[ed] three for foster family... where [Sara] can build healthy relationships." (14:5; App. 44). The case manager also therapeutic described Sara's needs, including developing "coping skills and working through her trauma experiences, grief, and loss[.]" (14:5; App. 44).

When the second group home terminated Sara's placement, one of Sara's former foster families agreed to take emergency placement of Sara in their treatment foster home in Waupaca County. (14:5; App. 44). Through a change of placement order in the TP case, Sara's placement was officially changed to this foster home on April 7, 2023. (14:5; App. 44).

Throughout this period of placements, Sara continued to suffer because of her trauma history. (14:3; App. 42). Her case worker noted that she "has such a high level of trauma that she has experienced in her life, that sometimes she goes into flight or freeze mode and struggles with her relationships at the home." (14:3; App. 42). To help cope with this, Sara was offered services, such as therapy and medication management, coordinated by her case worker. (14:3; App. 42).

On April 11, 2023, after her placement changed to Waupaca County, Sara filed a petition for protection or services. (3). Sara sought such protection or services pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 48.13(9), asserting that she "is at least 12 years old at the time of signing [her]

Case 2024AP000472 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2024 Page 16 of 46

petition... She is requesting jurisdiction under this statute and subsection. She is in need of special treatment or care." (7).

In the attachment to her petition, Sara further asserted that she was in need of "case management, out of home placement, referrals for services and services to address trauma history and other mental health needs." (7). Finally, Sara stated that she "has no parents. Her [parents'] rights were terminated and she was never adopted. [Sara] is almost 18 years old and needs further support to launch her into adulthood. The court has the ability to provide a year of supervision to help [Sara] manage her mental health and gain the independent living skills that she needs." (7).

Sara's petition seeking protection or services notes that Sara's parents had their rights terminated, leaving Sara parentless, and so the only other party listed is Sara's legal guardian, the "Department of Children and Family Services." (3).

Upon filing the CHIPS petition, Sara's trial counsel forecasted for the circuit court the "unusual posture" of the case:

To make matters more complicated, [Sara] will turn 18 years old on April 21, 2023, and therefore will be asking the Court to enter an order on her petition and proceed to disposition on the same day. In support of the Petition, the defense plans to solicit a report from [Sara]'s current guardian that is based on the most-recently filed

permanency plan. This report will be filed as soon as it is available.

Given the urgency of this filing and the unusual posture, I am writing this letter to put the Court on notice of what the child will ask the Court to do at the hearing that has been scheduled on the petition on April 19, 2023 at 2:45 p.m. We will supplement the record with any additional information the Court may find helpful to address this issue.

(8).

On April 13, 2023, Corporation Counsel filed a letter with the circuit court asking to "add Waupaca County Corporation Counsel... as an interested party to the recently filed CHIPS proceeding involving [Sara]." (11). Corporation Counsel added, "I also requested that this Court add the Waupaca County Department of Health and Human Services . . . as an interested party to the proceeding." (11). In addition to the request to have both entities be named parties, Corporation Counsel also asked that "both Waupaca County Corporation Counsel and the Department" have the chance to "present their respective position(s) regarding the issues of venue and jurisdiction." (11).

On April 18, 2023, just one day before the scheduled hearing, Corporation Counsel also sought to have Sara's petition dismissed. (16). Corporation Counsel sought to dismiss the petition on venue, jurisdictional, and facial deficiency grounds. (17:1-4). Corporation Counsel also objected to

Case 2024AP000472 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2024 Page 18 of 46

Sara's request to hold the hearing on the petition and the disposition at the same hearing. (17:5).

On the same day that Corporation Counsel filed its request to dismiss the petition, the circuit court wrote a letter to counsel for the Wisconsin Department of Children and Families ("DCF"), Sara's legal guardian. (18). The court asked DCF's counsel whether Sara was still subject to a Chapter 48 order from Vernon County. (18).

DCF's counsel responded the next day (April 19), informing the circuit court about the legal history of Sara's court involvement. (20). DCF reported that on "April 22, 2021, the Vernon County Circuit Court ordered the termination of the parental rights to that [Sara]'s parents.... Pursuant to guardianship, placement and care responsibility and custody of legal [Sara] were transferred DCF pending adoption." (20:1). The underlying Vernon County CHIPS case was dismissed on June 18, 2021. (20:1). Therefore, "there has not been an active CHIPS Order for [Sara] in Vernon County for almost two years[.]" (20:2).

DCF's counsel further explained how Sara's active TP case provides her services and placement. (20:2). "Since [Sara]'s TPR in April 2021, permanency plans and change of placement proceedings for [Sara] have occurred in this TP case. The TP order is set to expire upon [Sara]'s 18th birthday." (20:2).

Case 2024AP000472 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2024 Page 19 of 46

As DCF's counsel explained, the expiration of the TP case before Sara finished high school was unavoidable because "[t]here is no provision in Chapter 48 that permits DCF, a child or the child's attorney, or any other person to seek to extend a TP order beyond when a child turns 18 the way that a CHIPS order can be extended[.]" (20:2). Thus, for a child like Sara "in DCF guardianship post-TPR who wants the option of being on a CHIPS order that can extend beyond their high school graduation date . . . their only option is to seek a new CHIPS order[.]" (20:2).

On April 19, 2023, the circuit court presided over a hearing on Sara's petition. (31; App. 3-33). Present at the hearing were Sara, her attorney, DCF's counsel, two attorneys from the Corporation Counsel's office (Attorney Domonic Weisseand Attorney Diane social Meulemans), two workers from the local Waupaca County Department of Health and Human Services, Sara's ongoing case worker from her TP case, and Sara's then-current placement providers. (31:2-3; App. 4-5).

At the commencement of the hearing, the circuit court acknowledged that Corporation Counsel had raised several potentially dispositive legal challenges to Sara's petition. (31:3; App. 5). The court also asked Corporation Counsel whether it contested the petition; Attorney Weisse indicated that he did. (31:4; App. 6). Then, the circuit court asked DCF, as a non-petitioning party, whether it contested the petition. (31:5; App. 7). DCF's counsel indicated that

Case 2024AP000472 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2024 Page 20 of 46

DCF was not contesting – and actually supported – Sara's petition. (31:5; App. 7).

asked Next. the court Sara's counsel, acknowledging that Sara turned 18 in a matter of days, "what legal authority would I have to find today that your client is in need of protection or services when one of the non-petitioning parties is contesting petition?" (31:5;App. 7). In Sara's counsel rejected the underlying premise to the court's question, disputing that neither Corporation Counsel nor the local department of human services (collectively, the "county") were entitled to party status such that it had standing to contest the petition in the first place. (31:5-9; App. 7-11). Sara's counsel argued that the county is not a party in a CHIPS petition filed by a child; only the child and her guardian were parties. (31:5-7; App. 7-9). Further, Sara's counsel also argued that Corporation Counsel was not entitled to intervene into the proceedings as a party under existing statutory and case law. (31:5-7; App. 7-9). The only parties are DCF and Sara, given that Sara had no legal parents. (31:5-6; App. 7-8).

Sara's counsel acknowledged that the county had an interest in the outcome of the proceedings, but she likened such interest to that of a victim in a criminal proceeding as someone who may be interested in the outcome and may be entitled to be heard, but not someone who is a party who could file motions or contest the petition. (31:7-11; App. 9-13).

Case 2024AP000472 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2024 Page 21 of 46

Therefore, reasoned Sara's counsel, without any party actually contesting the petition, the circuit court is authorized, under section 48.31(7)(a), to find that Sara is a child in need of protection or services and go straight to disposition. (31:5-8; App. 7-10). The circuit court acknowledged this position, posing "if the only people's opinions who matter for the purposes of determining whether or not this petition is going to move forward – the only positions or opinions that matter are your client's and DCF, we wouldn't need a fact-finding hearing." (31:13; App. 15). Sara's counsel clarified that Corporation Counsel could be heard at disposition, but it lacked party status to contest the grounds \mathbf{set} forth in the petition. (31:13-14;App. 15-16).

The circuit court and Sara's counsel briefly discussed the timing of the petition, with the court lamenting that the situation would be easier if Sara turned 18 in 60 days instead of two. (31:14; App. 16). Sara's counsel agreed that such a situation would be logistically more convenient, but she noted that the very nature of the expiring TPR order is the reason that Sara needed to file the CHIPS petition at all, for while DCF has been adequately caring for Sara, it "lacks the legal authority to continue to offer services to [Sara.]" (31:14-15; App. 16-17).

Sara's counsel observed, "So this really is a Catch-22 situation for these children who are subject to termination of parental rights proceedings and are not subsequently adopted. They're put into a category where it's difficult to get services, and that's not right.

Case 2024AP000472 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-16-2024 Page 22 of 46

It's not right that [Sara] is only able to get the help she needs by initiating the filing of a petition." (31:15; App. 17).

The circuit court considered Sara's argument, but it ultimately concluded, without citing to any specific statute or law, that Corporation Counsel must have party status to contest the petition. (31:17-20; App. 19-22). Instead of citing specific authority, the court observed that it "struggle[d] with the idea that the agency or the entity or the office in charge of representing the public's interest has the right and the ability to petition, but not the ability to participate and be a party in cases in which they don't petition." (31:17; App. 19). Therefore, by granting Corporation Counsel party status, the court felt forced to hold a fact-finding hearing given Corporation Counsel's insistence to contest the petition. (31:18-20; App. 20-22).

Given this contest, the court sought input from the parties about possibly finding Sara to be a child in need of protection or services without a fact-finding hearing. (31:19-20; App. 21-22). Sara's counsel argued that the legislative intent of Chapter 48 – that the best interests of a child are paramount – should govern. (31:20; App. 22). Sara's counsel noted that given "the intent of Chapter 48, the intent of what is best for [Sara] – I – I don't understand the Corporation Counsel's position here. I don't. So I don't understand how it is in the public interest to object to a petition for a child who is so clearly in need of services." (31:20-21; App. 22-23). She added, "My client is a child. My client

is in need of protection and services." (31:22-23; App. 24-25).

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