FILED 07-19-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2024AP000472

In the Interest of: S.G., a person under the age of 18. S.G.,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES AND WAUPACA COUNTY,

Respondents-Respondents.

On Appeal from an Order Dismissing S.G.'s Petition for Protection or Services; the Honorable Troy L. Nielsen, Presiding, Entered in the Waupaca County Circuit Court

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS-RESPONDENTS**

ANGELA F. BOELTER
Assistant Corporation Counsel
Office of Corporation Counsel
811 Harding Street
Waupaca, WI 54981
(715) 258-6446
angela.boelter@co.waupaca.wi.us

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

Section 48.27 indicates who should receive notice after a petition has been filed. Wis. Stats. § 48.09 already gives Corporation Counsel authority to file the petition. Section 48.27 outlines who gets notice once Corporation Counsel files its petition. Corporation Counsel concedes that there is no mention of it receiving notice if someone else files the petition. This statute does not prohibit Corporation Counsel from being a party when someone else files the petition. Sara's brief argues that because these statutes do not specifically state that Corporation Counsel shall receive a copy of the petition or notice when filed by someone other than Corporation Counsel, Corporation Counsel is not a party. Corporation Counsel is designated in section 48.09 as the representative of the interest of the public in all cases under Chapter 48. All cases means all cases. Additionally, Corporation Counsel has the dual role of Petitioner in some cases and may act as the Petitioner under section 48.13, and as Petitioner would be required to file the notice provisions to other parties as set forth in section 48.255(4).

Filed 07-19-2024

None of the statutes cited by Sara's counsel specifically exclude Corporation Counsel as a party. Sara's counsel can point to no statutes that specifically state that Corporation Counsel is not a party when the petition is filed by a child or a child's parent. In fact, the opposite is true under section 48.09(5). It does not say Corporation Counsel represents the public interest in some cases or only when it has filed the petition. It states, "the interests of the public shall be represented in proceedings under this chapter . . . by the corporation counsel in any matter arising under section 48.13 . . . . " Wis. Stats. § 48.09(5). "Arising under" means brought by any Petitioner, as set forth in Wis. Stats. § 48.25.

While the other statutes regarding the petition and notice do not specifically list Corporation Counsel as one who receives a copy of the petition or notice when it is not the Petitioner, section 48.09 provides Corporation Counsel a way to intervene into any matter brought under chapter 48. When it intervenes, Corporation Counsel becomes a party.

Wis. Stats. § 803.09 allows a party to intervene in a civil action. CHIPS proceedings are civil in nature and the rules of civil procedure govern unless "there is a distinctly different procedure established in another statute." State ex rel. Kenneth S. v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 313 Wis.2d 508, 513, 756 N.W.2d 573 (Ct. App. 2008). Under section 803.09, a party who wishes to intervene must file a timely motion, "claim an interest sufficiently related to the subject of the matter," show that the decision of the action "may impair or impede" the intervener's ability to protect the interest, and show that the parties in the action cannot "adequately represent the movant's interest." Helgeland v. Wisconsin Municipalities, 307 Wis.2d 1, 20-21, 745 N.W.2d 1 (2008).

Assistant Corporation Counsel Weisse did not argue intervention under section 803.09 because section 48.09 authorized Corporation Counsel to represent the interests of the public. It is already recognized by the legislature that Corporation Counsel as the representative of the public interest clearly meets the requirement of section 803.09 because of the nature of the cases under section 48.09. Attorney Weisse's motion to be added as a party was timely, being filed on April 13, 2023. (R.11:1). The petition was only filed on April 11, 2023, and the hearing was held on April 19, 2023. Clearly Corporation Counsel has an interest in a CHIPS case when the county may have to provide funding and services to a child in need of protection or services and a decision of the court may impair its

Filed 07-19-2024

ability to provide and fund services to all children subject to child welfare court ordered services. The other parties in the case, there were two: Sara and her guardian, who was authorized to act due to Vernon County's Termination of Parental Rights order. The Vernon County guardian's authority to act would terminate upon Sara's eighteenth birthday on April 21, 2023. Neither had the same interests as Corporation Counsel in representing the public's interest. Sara wanted a CHIPS finding and the Court's entry of a dispositional order, which would require Waupaca County services, and placement until her nineteenth birthday. The guardian's authority would terminate within 48 hours of the hearing. Neither Sara nor the guardian represented the interest of the public. It is not reasonable to expect a county to provide funding, services, profession staff time, and resources without having a representative in a case deciding its obligation.

The Circuit Court made its finding that Corporation Counsel is a party in cases brought by others under Chapter 48.

You know, I – I struggle with the idea that the agency or the entity or the office in charge of representing the public's interest has the right and ability to petition, but not the ability to participate and be a party in cases in which they don't petition.

(R. 31:17

I think whichever entity has the responsibility of representing the public interest has a right to, you know, participate in a plea hearing, has the right to enter, you know, an objection or, you know, indicate they're contesting a petition, because I think it just – it just – it would strike me to - to not make sense to me, because again, they have the right to petition. And, you know, they're – you know, they're part of these cases.

(R. 31:19).

Attorney Weisse requested to be added as a party under section 48.09 because it provides that Corporation Counsel represents the public's interest in these types of cases. The legislature recognized that the public had the interest and established a specific statute to intervene in cases where that interest would be affected by a decision of the court. Therefore, the Circuit Court did not err in allowing Corporation Counsel to be added as a party and Corporation Counsel had authority, as an intervening party, to object to or contest the petition.

2. The Circuit Court should have addressed the issue of venue raised by Assistant Corporation Counsel Weisse.

Attorney Weisse filed a Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Dismiss Petition. (R. 17:1-5). He argued that Waupaca County was an improper venue for the case. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has found that venue is most appropriate in the county where the child is domiciled, to be determined at the time of the filing of the petition. *In the Interest of Corey J.G.*, 215 Wis.2d 395, 417, 572 N.W.2d 846 (1998). "Domicile means living in that locality with intent to make it a fixed and permanent home." *Id.* at 415. At the time of the filing of the petition and hearing, Sara had been accepted to UW-Milwaukee and was hired to paint dorm rooms in the summer. It was possible that she would be able to live on campus during the summer. (R. 14:5). She had no intention to make Weyauwega, Wisconsin her fixed and permanent home. Other than the respite foster home she was placed in by her guardian on April 7, 2023, she had no ties to Waupaca County. The Petition for Protection or Services she filed in Waupaca County listed her guardian's address as Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin.

Sara was physically present in Waupaca County from April 7, 2023, until the time of the hearing on April 19, 2023. She had no prior contact with Waupaca County Department of Health and Human Services. (R. 15:1-14). The Affidavit of Jasmine Peterson, CPS Supervisor at Waupaca County DHHS referenced the Wisconsin Inter-County Agreement. It is not binding authority but is an agreement to which Vernon County is a party. There had been no contact by the Vernon County DHHS workers requesting change of venue. The change of placement was not filed in the Vernon County Termination of Parental Rights case until after the Petition was filed in Waupaca County. The change of placement order was signed on April 17, 2023, just two days before the hearing in Waupaca County. An order for change of placement does not confer residency to a minor child. The child remains subject to personal jurisdiction in Vernon County.

Sara was present in Waupaca County for four days before the petition was filed. Pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 48.185, her presence is the only means by which the Circuit Court could have had jurisdiction in this case. However, the statute states that venue "may" be in the county where the child resides or where the child is present. The statute gives the Circuit Court discretion by the use of the word

Filed 07-19-2024

"may" and if the Court finds there is a more proper venue, the Court may dismiss for improper venue. In Sara's case, Vernon County was the proper venue. The original CHIPS case was venued in Vernon County. The Termination of Parental Rights case was venued Vernon County. Sara was still subject to juvenile court jurisdiction in Vernon County due to the TPR order entered in Vernon County in April 2021. There was no request to change venue to Waupaca County. Frankly, Vernon County failed Sara when it dismissed her CHIPS case without having an identified adoptive resource for her.

Ironically, had Sara' guardian notified Vernon County child welfare professionals that Sara wanted services and placement to continue beyond her eighteenth birthday as permitted under Wis. Stats. § 48.355(4)(b), the guardian would have to concede that the allegations in Sara's petition filed pursuant Wis. Stats. § 48.13(9) were true: that Sara is in need of special treatment or care which the guardian is unwilling, neglecting, unable or needs assistance to provide. Vernon County child welfare professionals, and its Corporation Counsel or District Attorney, could have filed a Petition for Protection or Services pursuant to section 48.13(10), where the guardian would also concede the guardian was neglecting the child due to being unable to provide necessary care to Sara resulting in substantial risk of physical harm to the child.

The Circuit Court should have addressed venue before deciding the other issues. If it had done so, it would have found Waupaca County was not the proper venue for the case.

3. The case is moot and not subject to one of the exception to mootness.

Sara filed a petition under s. 48.13(9) on April 11, 2023, 10 days before her 18<sup>th</sup> birthday. The timing of filing the Petition is of absolute control of the Petitioner and no other party. The earliest the Circuit Court could hear the matter was April 19, 2023. The Petition for Protection or Services was filed on April 11, 2023. Pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 48.273(1)(c), notice must be given by mail at least seven days prior to the hearing, unless there was personal service. There is not affidavit of service in the court record. Corporation Counsel contested the petition. (R. 31:4). Judge Nielsen asked Sara's counsel:

So, Attorney Drury, my question to kind of start things out her today recognizing, your client turns 18 in two days, what legal authority

would I have to find today that your client is in need of protection or services when one of the non-petitioning parties is contesting the petition?

(R. 31:5).

The Circuit Court was then unable to schedule a fact-finding hearing before Sara's 18<sup>th</sup> birthday. The Court found it unreasonable to do so. (R. 31:23). The Court cited Wis. Stats. § 48.355(4) and stated that a dispositional order needed to be entered before Sara turned 18. (R. 31:24). Pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 48.33, a court report is required to be completed by an agency defined in Wis. Stats. §48.38((1)(a) and filed with the Court prior to a dispositional hearing. There was not enough time before Sara turned 18 years old for the report to be completed by Waupaca County Department of Health and Human Services, an agency that had no information about this child. In the decision on Sara's Motion for Reconsideration, the Circuit Court found that the legal issues in the motion were "moot due to the child turning 18 years of age" on the day he wrote the decision and order on the motion. (R. 23:1).

"A case becomes moot only when it is impossible for a court to grant any effectual relief whatever to the prevailing party." *Knox v. Service Employees*, 567 U.S. 298, 307, 132 S.Ct. 2277, 183 L.Ed.2d 281 (2012) (quoting *Erie v. Pap's A.M.*, 529 U.S. 277, 287, 120 S.Ct.1382, 146 L.Ed.2d 265 (2000). "As a general rule, this court will not consider questions which have become moot due to a change in circumstances." *State ex. rel. Waldeck v. Goedken*, 84 Wis.2d 408, 413, 267 N.W.2d 362 (1978). Sara is now 19 years old. There is no CHIPS case pending and there is no jurisdiction available to her under Wis. Stats. § 48.13.

In order for Sara's case to be addressed when moot, she must show "exceptional or compelling circumstances." *City of Racine v. J-T Enters. of Am., Inc.*, 64 Wis.2d 691,702, 221 N.W.2d 869 (1974). Mootness may be examined if one of the following exceptional or compelling circumstances exist: (1) "the issues are of great importance," (2) "the constitutionality of the statute is involved," (3) the situation arises so often "a definitive decision is essential to guide the trial courts," (4) "the issue is likely to arise again and should be resolved by the court to avoid uncertainty," or (5) the issue is "capable and likely of repetition and yet evades review." *Matter of Commitment of J.W.K.*, 386 Wis.2d 672, 683-684, 927 N.W.2d 509 (2019) (quoting *G.S. v. State*, 118 Wis.2d 803, 805, 348 N.W.2d 181 (1984).

Filed 07-19-2024

Sara cannot show one of the exceptional or compelling circumstances. Sara was two days shy of her 18th birthday when the hearing was held on her petition. She had been accepted at UW-Milwaukee and was going to be staying in Milwaukee in the summer. She had not shown in her petition that she was a child in need of protection or services. She had already arranged for herself a place to stay, had been accepted to college and had plans of where she was going to stay for the summer. Pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 48.13(9), she needed to show she was in need of special treatment or care. Like so many children who turn 18 and graduate from high school, Sara went on to college. She has moved on with her life.

The situation that Sara found herself in is not the usual way that cases come to the circuit court under Chapter 48 petitions. Sara had been physically present in several other counties before being placed by her guardian in Waupaca County. The petition could have been filed in any one of those counties well in advance of her 18<sup>th</sup> birthday if the court is inclined to consider physical presence of a child who is also subject to the jurisdiction of a Children's Court order in Vernon County. She had lived for 4 months in one county. However, Vernon County did not lose jurisdiction regarding child welfare issues involving Sara as she was subject to the TPR order entered in Vernon County.

Sara's counsel argues that the statutory interpretation presented in this case is of great importance. It is not of great importance when the statutes cited are not in conflict with one another. As evidenced by the lack of case law on the subject, the interpretation of the statutes cited in Chapter 48 is not an issue that has been appealed. It is not something that is occurring so often with differing results from the courts that it needs addressing. The same set of facts presented in this case are not found in any case law, indicating that the issues raised in this appeal are not likely to present themselves again, or dissuade someone from appealing a different case.

Sara cannot meet one of the exceptional or compelling circumstances to warrant this Court finding an exception to the mootness doctrine. Therefore, this Court should find this case is moot.

Filed 07-19-2024

#### CONCLUSION

This case is moot because Sara turned 18 years old two days after the Circuit Court made its ruling and Sara cannot show exceptional or compelling circumstances to meet one of the exceptions to the mootness doctrine. However, if this Court finds an exception to the mootness doctrine, this Court should affirm the findings and decision of the Circuit Court. The Circuit Court did not err when it granted Corporation Counsel's request to be added as a party in the CHIPS case Corporation Counsel is a party in Chapter 48 cases when filed by Sara. representing the interests of the public under Wis. Stats. § 48.09, whether it is the Petitioner or not. Had the Circuit Court addressed the motion to dismiss because of improper venue, it would have found that Waupaca County was not the proper venue based upon Vernon County being better suited to hear the case.